NON-NEURONAL MAMMALIAN TACHYKININ EXPRESSION

Daniel A. Nelson and Kenneth L. Bost

Department of Biology, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, NC 28223

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Mammalian non-neuronal tachykinin expression
 - 3.1. Substance P
 - 3.2. Neurokinin A (NKA)
 - 3.3. Neurokinin B (NKB)
 - 3.4. Hemokinin 1 (mouse HK-1)
 - 3.5. Endokinins A and B (human EKA, EKB)
 - 3.6. C14TKL-1
- 4. Tachykinins acting on mammals
 - 4.1. Virokinin
 - 4.2. Sialokinins I/II
 - 4.3. Physalaemin
- 5. Perspective
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Mammalian tachykinins are traditionally viewed as neuropeptides. This review describes the mammalian tachykinins and evidence for expression of these peptides by non-neuronal cells. Tachykinin expression is defined as evidence for gene transcription, peptide production, or peptide secretion. Since the functions of mammalian tachykinins have been amply reviewed, the biological roles of these peptides will be noted briefly, with emphasis on immune cell action. Of particular interest is the predicted existence and non-neuronal expression of new mammalian tachykinins - hemokinin 1, the endokinins and C14TKL-1. Synthetic forms of these peptides have high affinity for the NK₁ receptor, the protein traditionally associated with substance P binding. By acting on the same "substance P" receptor, these tachykinins have the potential for promoting similar postreceptor functions. The structure and action of representative non-mammalian tachykinins acting on mammals are also presented. These peptides, of interest in their own right, also appear to exhibit selectivity for the NK₁ receptor. They strengthen the notion that multiple ligands may be capable of binding to one receptor, NK₁, effecting similar cellular responses.

2. INTRODUCTION

The tachykinin family of peptides (1) typically share two characteristics: a C-terminal sequence of F-X-G-L-M and amidation of the C-terminal Met residue. The X in the C-terminal sequence is one of four residues: F, Y, V, or I. Tachykinins are relatively short peptides with the well known mammalian substance P (reviewed in 2-5) containing 11 amino acid residues. The tachykinins have a variety of pharmacological actions both in the central

nervous system (reviewed in 2-5) and in the periphery (reviewed in 6-8).

Tachykinins are produced as preproproteins and are processed and secreted via the classic secretory pathway. A signal (pre) sequence directs the nascent polypeptide to the endoplasmic reticulum where preprotachykinins are converted to protachykinin. Protachykinins are significantly larger than the functional tachykinin. In humans, for example, proneurokinin B is a 121 residue polypeptide (9). Protachykinins are sorted in the Golgi and proteolytically converted and amidated in secretory vesicles to yield the bioactive peptide. Secretion may be controlled by external signals, with the peptides acting locally in an autocrine, or paracrine fashion. Following secretion, the peptide either binds to a specific tachykinin receptor, or is degraded by membrane-bound extracellular proteases such as endopeptidase-24.11 (neprilysin) (10). Receptor binding results in G-protein activation and the production of inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (11). This could give rise to an increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺, or other intracellular events such as the activation of specific transcription factors like NFkappaB. Bound receptors are rapidly endocytosed, the ligand degraded and the receptor returned to the plasma membrane. The turnover rate for tachykinins can be anywhere from 3-4 hours to 4 or 5 days if axonal transport is required (12).

Until recently, the mammalian tachykinins consisted of substance P, neurokinin A (NKA) and neurokinin B (NKB) with differential splicing and posttranslational processing also producing the neurokinin A-like peptides, neuropeptide gamma and neuropeptide K.

Table 1. Tachykinins and their amphipathic structure

	a men ampinpame sa actare
Tachykinin	Amino acid sequence indicating
v	the amphipathic structure 1
Substance P	R P K P Q Q FFGLM-NH ₂
Hemokinin-1 (mouse)	R S R T R Q FYGLM-NH ₂
Endokinins A & B	T G K A S Q FFGLM-NH ₂
(human)	
C14TKL-1 (human)	R H R T P M FYGLM-NH ₂
Neurokinin A	H K T D S FVGLM-NH ₂
Neurokinin B	D M H D F FVGLM-NH ₂
Sialokinin I (mosquito	N T G D K FYGLM-NH ₂
saliva)	
Physalaemin (frog skin)	E A D P N K FYGLM-NH ₂
Virokinin (bovine viral)	R N S T K K FYGLM-NH ₂

¹ Basic amino acid residues are indicated as red letters. Acidic amino acid residues are indicated as blue letters. Uncharged, polar amino acid residues are indicated as green letters. Hydrophobic amino acid residues (including glycine and tyrosine) are indicated as black letters

Substance P. NKA and NKB have been termed neurokinins because of their abundance in the central nervous system. Additional tachykinins are now thought to be present in mammals, based on the presence and transcription of novel tachykinin genes, and the biological activity of the tachykinin. It is also noted that some nonmammalian organisms such as certain species of mosquito and frog, produce tachykinins that act on mammals. Table 1 shows the amino acid sequences of substance P, NKA and NKB, the new tachykinins hemokinin 1, endokinins A and B and C14TKL-1, and examples of tachykinins that act on mammals. The tachykinin sequences shown in Table 1 are presented using color coded residues to visualize their amphipathic structure. The N-terminal portion of the tachykinin is hydrophilic and is unique for each of the illustrated tachykinins. This portion of the tachykinin appears to be less involved in high affinity binding to its receptor. For example, the electron paramagnetic resonance spectrum of a receptor bound substance P analog indicates the N-terminal lys-3 portion is highly flexible (13), an indication of little involvement in binding. The C-terminal portion of the peptide is a highly conserved, amidated, hydrophobic 5-residue sequence required for receptor binding.

The three mammalian tachykinin receptors are termed NK_1 (neurokinin receptor 1), NK_2 and NK_3 (reviewed in 14-16). Tachykinin affinity for these receptors is strongly associated with the identity of the second residue of the C-terminal pentamer. The mammalian tachykinins can be divided into two groups based on the amino acid residue at this second position (1): In the first group are tachykinins with an aromatic phe, or tyr residue. This set includes substance P, the new tachykinins, hemokinin-1, endokinins A&B, and C14TKL-1, as well as the above selected nonmammalian tachykinins. These peptides are reported to have high affinity for NK_1 , suggesting this is a central characteristic of tachykinins with phe or tyr at this second position. The second class of mammalian tachykinins, NKA and NKB contain the

aliphatic val at the second position, and have higher affinity for NK_2 and NK_3 , respectively. It should be noted that at elevated concentrations, tachykinins will bind to receptors of lower specificity (14-16), suggesting that some *in vivo* ligand-receptor interactions could be based on proximity.

3. MAMMALIAN NON-NEURONAL TACHYKININ EXPRESSION

The following sections examine the non-neuronal expression and secretion of mammalian tachykinins, and provide brief examples of biological activity, or proposed biological function, with emphasis on inflammation and immunomodulation.

3.1. Substance P

Substance P is encoded by the tachykinin 1 gene. Transcription of Tac1 produces preprotachykinin-A (PPT-A) RNA (16), which is converted into one of four PPT-A mRNA splice variants, alpha, beta, gamma or delta (17). All four of the mRNA variants code for a protachykinin polypeptide containing substance P, with the beta and gamma transcripts also encoding neurokinin A. As described earlier, substance P is secreted and is thought to either bind to its preferred receptor, NK₁, or is degraded by extracellular proteases. The expression and secretion of substance P has generally been attributed to neurons, defining substance P as a neurotransmitter of the central and peripheral nervous systems. In the 1980s, however, substance P was suggested to have proinflammatory properties (18), and this new putative function prompted a search for the peptide and its mRNA in immune cells. Substance P would then be directly involved in immune cell communication and modulation.

Aliakbari *et al.* (19) chromatographically identified substance P in purified human eosinophils, and estimated the concentration at 21 fmol per 10⁷ cells. Weinstock et al. (20) also demonstrated the production of substance P in this cell type. Mice infected with schistosomiasis often produce granulomas in the liver, and using in situ oligonucleotide hybridization, PPT-A mRNA was localized to the granuloma eosinophils. Substance P could be extracted from the granulomas and identified by its immunoreactivity and elution profile on HPLC. Eosinophil release of substance P could be promoted by the calcium ionophore A23187, or histamine (21). It was concluded that substance P was present in granulomas as a result of preprotachykinin expression in eosinophils, that substance P secretion could be stimulated by both pharmacological and physiological mediators, and that substance P may stimulate particular aspects of the immune system.

Pascual and Bost (22) demonstrated that the murine macrophage cell line P388D1 secreted a peptide with characteristics indistinguishable from substance P. An anti-substance P monoclonal antibody was used to affinity purify the secreted substance P and the peptide shown to be chemically similar to substance P by gel filtration and by reverse-phase HPLC. Synthetic substance P enhances secretion of an IL-1-like activity from P388D1

macrophages. When these macrophages were cultured in the presence of anti-substance P antibody, IL-1-like cytokine production was decreased, suggesting macrophage function was modulated by substance P in an autocrine, or paracrine fashion. The presence of substance P and its involvement in autocrine, or paracrine regulation was supported in a subsequent study using isolated rat macrophages (23). LPS upregulated PPT-A mRNA expression in rat macrophages, and secretion of substance P could be detected using anti-substance P monoclonal antibody. Additionally, PPT-A mRNA expression was promoted in adherent mononuclear leukocytes (possibly macrophages) isolated from mouse mesenteric lymph nodes following oral intubation with Salmonella dublin (24). These results support the hypothesis that substance P is a proinflammatory modulator of the immune response acting locally in an autocrine or paracrine fashion, and indicate that stimulation, such as the addition of LPS to the medium, may be required for expression.

Castagliuolo *et al.* (25) injected rat ileal loops with *Clostridium difficile* toxin A and after 1 hour isolated lamina propria macrophages (LPMs). After 2 hours in culture, LPMs from toxin A-injected loops, but not control loops showed increased levels of alpha, beta and gamma substance P mRNA and after 6 hours, substance P could be detected in the culture medium (~100 fmol/10⁷ LPMs). The authors suggest that the released substance P would likely bind to appropriate cell receptors locally *in vivo*, perpetuating the inflammatory response to toxin A-induced enteritis.

Using RT-PCR, PPT-A mRNA was detected in isolated macrophages (26-29), dendritic cells (30), lymphocytes (31, 32) and fetal microglia (29, 33). As might be anticipated, substance P was identified in these immune cells by enzyme-linked immunoassay (26, 30, 31, 33), and in some instances selected stimuli produced low levels of secretion of substance P (i.e. fmols/10⁶-10⁷ cells). For example, capsaicin (26) and morphine (34) stimulated substance P secretion from human monocytes and macrophages. Capsaicin also promoted the release of substance P from PHA-stimulated human peripheral bloodisolated lymphocytes (31). These studies demonstrate that PPT-A mRNA and low levels of substance P can be produced by non-neuronal cells with the potential of locally modulating immune cell function. It has been suggested that leukocyte production of substance P following stimulation could be the result of immune stimuli that differ from those required for neuronal peptide production, or could reflect the need to enhance the immune response in tissues with limited innervation by peptidergic neurons (7). Thus substance P would contribute to the development of an immune response in the absence of neuronally-derived peptide.

Enhancement of the pro-inflammatory response by substance P (for reviews see 2, 6, 7, 35-37) would vary, depending on the particular immunogen, pathogen (38), or stress-related change (39). This requires the presence of the "substance P" receptor, NK_1 , on a variety of leukocyte types, confirmed by the presence of NK_1 mRNA and

functional protein in these cells (summarized in ref. 2). NK₁ mRNA was detected in human monocytes (34). macrophages (26), lymphocytes (31, 32, 34) and fetal microglia (33), and using anti-NK₁ antibodies, the receptor protein was detected on professional antigen presenting cells including macrophages (40), dendritic cells (41) and microglia (42). At low nanomolar concentrations, the binding of substance P promotes a variety of proinflammatory responses. In macrophages, an increased respiratory burst producing reactive oxygen intermediates is induced (43, 44). The addition of substance P to human blood monocytes releases the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and TNF-alpha (45). LPS-stimulated secretion of IL-6. TNF-alpha and IL-1beta is boosted by preincubation of mouse peritoneal macrophages with substance P (46). Similarly, the peptide synergizes with LPS to augment IL-12p70 secretion (47). In parallel to its pro-inflammatory action, substance P diminishes LPS and IFN-gamma stimulated production of the immunosuppressive cytokine, TGF-beta-1 (48) and down-regulates macrophage production of anti-inflammatory somatostatin (49) These results support the view that substance P acts through NK₁ to stimulate, or augment the pro-inflammatory immune response.

There is evidence that substance P may act as a lymphocyte differentiation or proliferation factor. Early studies indicated that substance P could promote PHAstimulated human T cell proliferation (50). Similarly, Stanisz et al. (51) showed that substance P enhanced the secretion of IgA from concanavalin A stimulated lymphocytes. Further studies showed that substance P, at subnanomolar concentrations, optimally enhanced LPSstimulated IgM and IgA secretion from appropriate B lymphoma cell lines (52-54). In normal B cells purified from spleen or Peyer's patches, subnanomolar concentrations of substance P enhanced LPS stimulation of IgG3 and IgM secretion 5-10 fold (55). Similarly, when IL-6 was used as a stimulator, substance P enhanced the secretion of IgA and IgG (56). More recently, substance P was shown to reduce T cell adhesion to fibronectin (57) and induce atypical cytokine secretion from antigen-activated Th1 and Th2 cell lines, suggesting tachykinins can influence T helper cell phenotype (58). It is concluded that substance P is capable of co-modulating the phenotype and activity of a variety of types of lymphocytes.

3.2. Neurokinin A (NKA)

Like substance P, mRNA encoding neurokinin A is derived from PPT-A RNA transcribed from Tac1 (17). PPT-A RNA contains 7 exons, with exon 3 encoding substance P and exon 6 encoding neurokinin A (29, 33). Only the beta and gamma mRNA transcripts are differentially spliced to include exon 6 and therefore, as mentioned previously, only these two mRNAs encode NKA. N-terminal extensions of NKA termed neuropeptide K (59) and neuropeptide gamma (60) can be produced by the beta and gamma transcripts, respectively. Any nonneuronal cells producing these transcripts are capable of making, packaging and secreting substance P, NKA and neuropeptides K or gamma.

Beta and gamma PPT-A mRNA has been detected in human peripheral blood monocytes (26), monocyte derived macrophages (26) and isolated human peripheral blood lymphocytes, stimulated for 72 hr in culture with phytohemagglutinin and further treated with IL-2 (31). These transcripts were also detected in mouse intestinal lymphocytes (32) and human fetal microglia cells (33). Lambrecht *et al.* (30) demonstrated that bone marrow-derived dendritic cells produced the gamma PPT-A transcript. These results indicate that many of the same leukocytes thought to produce substance P are also capable of producing and secreting neurokinin A. The emphasis to date, however, has been on the detection of substance P and NK₁ from these cell types, with little attention to NKA and its high affinity receptor, NK₂.

3.3. Neurokinin B (NKB)

Tac2 produces the peptide neurokinin B in the mouse, whereas in humans (and rats), the gene producing NKB has been named Tac3. Human Tac3 has 7 exons and appears to produce a single PPT-B mRNA transcript encoding the 121 residue proneurokinin B which is processed to the biologically active 10 residue NKB (9). Neurokinin B has been considered a neuropeptide, secreted by central and peripheral neurons, acting on its high affinity receptor, NK₃.

Recently, NKB of non-neuronal origin has been reported in the placenta during pregnancy (for reviews, see 61, 62). RT-PCR was used to detect the presence of PPT-B during the first trimester of pregnancy, with the transcript increasing 5-fold near termination (9). In situ hybridization using labeled antisense riboprobes located the NKB mRNA to the outer placental syncytiotrophoblasts, a region, like the placenta as a whole, that is not innervated. These cells are positioned for secretion of NKB into the maternal circulation, and small but significant amounts of immunoreactive NKB could be detected in the maternal blood at early and late stages of pregnancy. The authors suggest that NKB would reduce blood flow to the liver. thereby increasing flow to the uterus and placenta. NKB could simultaneously act as a vasodilator in the fetal placental circulation (63). Plasma concentrations of NKB were greatly elevated in patients with pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia (9). The elevated levels of NKB, by constricting blood flow through the mesenteric and portal veins, would increase blood pressure and possibly be a direct cause of pre-eclampsia.

3.4. Hemokinin 1 (mouse HK-1)

The recently discovered mouse Tac4 gene contains four exons encoding PPT-C RNA (64). This RNA appears to be spliced in the mouse to yield a single mRNA species, producing a 128 residue preproprotein with the requisite processing information for the release of the substance P-like peptide hemokinin-1 (HK-1). Zhang *et al.* (64) used RT-PCR followed by Northern blot analysis to demonstrate expression in mouse bone marrow and thymus, also providing evidence that in bone marrow, HK-1 expression was largely restricted to the B cell lineage. RT-PCR expression profiling in the mouse has considerably expanded the repertoire of tissues containing HK-1 mRNA.

Kurtz *et al.* (65) report moderate to strong signals from brain, spleen, stomach, skin and lactating breast, with weaker expression in other peripheral tissues. Using real-time quantitative PCR, Duffy *et al.* (66) detected HK-1 mRNA in the majority of peripheral tissues examined including spleen, ovary and uterus, with expression in the uterus confirmed by Pintado *et al.* (67). Examination of a variety of brain regions demonstrate the presence of HK-1 mRNA, but this expression is relatively weak compared to that of substance P mRNA (66). Cell and tissue production and expression of the HK-1 peptide has not as yet been reported due to the lack of specific anti-HK-1 antibodies.

Hemokinin-1 was synthesized and used in a variety of assays to analyze receptor binding and peptide activity. Like substance P, HK-1 has high affinity, and therefore specificity for NK₁. Morteau et al. (68), using the human NK₁ receptor, report a K_d for murine HK-1 of 0.11 nM and for substance P, a K_d of 0.16 nM. Within experimental error limits, these K_d's are the same. Similar binding affinities were reported by Kurtz et al. (65), Bellucci et al. (69) and Duffy et al. (66). As expected, substance P and hemokinin-1 at 100 nM concentrations increase cytosolic Ca2+ and cross-desensitize in NK1 expressing cells (68). The EC₅₀s for Ca²⁺ mobilization and IP₁ accumulation are reported to be 0.6 and 0.47 nM, respectively, virtually identical to the measured substance P values (65). Similar EC₅₀s are reported by Duffy *et al.* (66). Despite the dissimilarity in amino-terminal sequences, these data strongly suggest that both HK-1 and substance P have the capacity to act on NK_1 in vivo.

HK-1 substance P have similar and pharmacological profiles. Concentration dependent contractions of NK₁-containing rabbit jugular vein were the same for HK-1 and substance P, and these contractions occurred at much lower concentrations than for rabbit pulmonary artery (NK₂), or rat portal vein (NK₃) (70). Bellucci et al. (69) report that in rat urinary bladder, HK-1 was similar, but about 3-fold less potent than substance P in producing contractions. In vivo, the potency of HK-1 was the same as substance P in generating dose-dependent salivary gland secretion and reduction in blood pressure. Duffy et al. (66) report that the minimum effective dose to produce foot tapping in gerbils was 10 and 3 nmoles for HK-1 and substance P, respectively, while for scratching in mice, the minimum effective dose was 1 nmole of each peptide. These data are supportive of the hypothesis that NK₁ is a high affinity receptor for HK-1 in vivo.

In addition to the potential substance P-like activities, HK-1 may be particularly important in B cell (64) and T-cell (71) development. In bone marrow, PPT-C mRNA expression was largely confined to B lineage cells (64). HK-1 promoted both the survival and proliferation of B cell precursors, the same cells producing HK-1, suggesting that the peptide is an autocrine factor playing a critical role in B cell development. Similarly, HK-1 influenced T-cell development at early stages of differentiation. In fetal thymus organ culture, HK-1 enhanced proliferation of T-cell precursors and increased the number of thymocytes. For both B-cell and T-cell precursors, NK₁ antagonists

reduced cell survival, which could be partially reversed by the addition of HK-1. It might be expected that all potentiating effects of HK-1 described for pre-B and pre-T cells would be reproduced by substance P. In some instances, however, the enhancing properties of HK-1 were uniquely attributed to this peptide. For example, HK-1 induced proliferation of IL-7 expanded B cell precursors, but substance P lacked this activity. These results would support the hypothesis that different tissues might have separate NK_1 subtypes, or different receptors for HK-1 and substance P.

3.5. Endokinins A and B (human EKA and EKB)

Based on the mouse sequence, the homologous Tac4 gene was located in the human genome and transcripts identified by analysis of cDNA (72). In humans, Tac4 expression is predicted to produce a PPT-C RNA that is differentially spliced to yield one of four mRNAs, alpha, beta, gamma, or delta. Relative to mouse, human PPT-C RNA contains a short, internal additional exon retained in the human alpha and gamma PPT-C mRNA transcripts.

It is not clear whether translation and processing of the resultant proproteins would yield an HK-1-like peptide, as found for mouse. The dibasic proprotein processing site at the amino-terminus of mouse HK-1 is absent in the human sequence. Kurtz et al. (65) propose that processing enzymes would make use of two monobasic cleavage sites to generate an 11-residue HK-1 peptide as in mouse, as well as an 8-residue truncated form (HK-1, residues 4-11). Page et al. (72) argue that the absence of the dibasic N-terminal processing site would shift the cleavage to a new site further toward the N-terminus of the proprotein, yielding peptides of 47 and 41 residues. These two peptides with the signature FFGLM tachykinin sequence at the C-terminus have been termed endokinins A and B (EKA and EKB), so named because of their peripheral production and endocrine/paracrine activity. Two other peptides, EKC and EKD would also be generated, but would lack the signature tachykinin sequence, and do not exhibit tachykinin-like activity. One striking observation is that regardless of the length of the human HK-1/EKA/EKB N-terminus, this portion of the human sequence differs substantially from that of mouse HK-1. There appears to be very little evolutionary pressure to maintain a specific N-terminal sequence.

Human Tac4 transcripts are present in a variety of tissues and cell lines. Kurtz et al. (65), using RT-PCR noted significant expression in the heart, skeletal muscle, skin and thyroid. Trace amounts of human PPT-C mRNA could be detected in the uteri of both pregnant and nonpregnant women (73). Alpha-PPT-C mRNA was detected in adrenal gland and fetal liver, beta-PPT-C mRNA in heart, liver, bone marrow, prostate, adrenal gland and testis, and delta and gamma PPT-C mRNA in adrenal gland and placenta (72). Detection of transcripts in a variety of human peripheral tissue cell lines support the hypothesis that these tachykinins are non-neuronally expressed.

Evidence for the production or secretion of human HK-1/EKA/EKB is limited. Page et al. (72)

produced antibodies against the N- and C-termini of EKB and used these two antibodies in a sandwich ELISA to detect the presence of EKB in human term placental extracts. They found 7.52 fmol of EKB per gram of tissue.

HK-1" "Human (either synthetic TGKASQFFGLM-NH2, or synthetic GKASQFFGLM-NH₂) generally acted like substance P or mouse HK-1 in binding and activity assays. Human HK-1 has high affinity for the "substance P" receptor, NK1. Binding affinity for human NK₁ was slightly reduced compared to substance P or mouse HK-1, but was still substantially greater than for NK₂, or NK₃. In NK₁-transfected CHO cells, half-maximal concentrations for Ca²⁺ mobilization and IP₁ accumulation were virtually the same for substance P, mouse HK-1 and human HK-1 (65). Page et al. (72) report that in rats both substance P and human HK-1 reduce arterial blood dose-dependent pressure, promoting hindquarter vasodilation, mesenteric vasoconstriction and tachycardia. There were no significant dose-dependent differences between substance P and human HK-1. The authors conclude human HK-1/EKA/EKB may be responsible for actions in the periphery formerly attributed to substance P.

3.6. C14TKL-1

Jiang et al. (74) developed a homology search application, termed PepPat, that is designed to search for short peptide sequences within a database. The application, combining a pattern search with a similarity score against a query peptide, identifies possible matches from expressed regions of a genome. The authors used PepPat to search for tachykinin sequences. Specifically, a portion of the neurokinin A sequence including the C-terminal proteolytic cleavage site "FVGLMGKR" was used as the query sequence, and "XXXXMG[KR][KR] used as the pattern, to search a virtual translation of the Incyte Lifeseq EST database (Incyte Genomics, Palo Alto, CA). One highscoring hit was "FYGLMGKR". Using BLAST, the expressed sequence mapped to human chromosome 14. The peptide sequence was translated N-terminally and based on a putative proteolytic cleavage site, the peptide was suggested to have the sequence "RHRTPMFYGLM-NH2." This peptide was designated chromosome 14 tachykininlike peptide 1 (C14TKL-1).

To establish the biological presence and relevance of this peptide, the authors assayed for mRNA expression and synthetic C14TKL-1 activity. One-step quantitative RT-PCR was used to demonstrate that the gene is expressed in many human organs and in numerous regions of the brain. The authors particularly noted that C14TKL-1 mRNA was present at elevated levels in peripheral tissue, and was abundant in liver. NK₁ transfected CHO cells showed a dose-dependent rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ upon addition of synthetic C14TKL-1. This rise in internal Ca²⁺ was indistinguishable from the response to substance P, with half-maximal values of 1.0 and 0.8 nM, respectively. These values are similar to the $K_{\mbox{\tiny d}}$ reported for substance P binding to the NK₁ receptor (0.1 -1.0 nM). The authors conclude, based on mRNA expression and peptide activity, that C14TKL-1 is a likely addition to the list of in vivo NK₁ agonists.

4. TACHYKININS ACTING ON MAMMALS

The following section briefly describes representative non-mammalian tachykinins that are thought to act on mammals. These peptides are particularly intriguing since they contain tyr in the second position of the tachykinin C-terminal pentamer, a characteristic of two of the new tachykinins, mouse HK-1 and human C14TKL-1. In the context of tachykinins structure, these peptides provide evidence that tachykinins found in nature may differ substantially at their N-terminus while retaining high affinity for the NK $_{\rm I}$ receptor.

4.1. Virokinin

Virokinin is a tachykinin produced from the fusion protein of bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) (75). By processing of a viral membrane protein, a peptide is released that is further proteolytically modified and amidated. The 20 residue virokinin is proposed to have the sequence GIPELIHYTRNSTKKFYGLM-NH₂. The peptide contains an N-linked glycosyl group that does not appear to affect biological activity. The authors suggest that glycosylation may help protect virokinin from the action of endopeptidase-24.11. The authors note that the sequence of virokinin is conserved in all BRSV strains, indicating that the virus benefits from the production of this peptide.

A monospecific antibody directed against the amidated C-terminus of virokinin was used on Western blots to demonstrate that native virokinin was secreted by infected Vero cells. Both the native peptide (in the form of conditioned medium) and synthetic virokinin were then tested in biological activity assays. GFP-tagged betaarrestin 1 in NK₁ transfected HeLa cells was translocated to endosomes in the presence of 10 nM virokinin, or in the presence of conditioned, infected Vero cell medium. Similarly, GFP-tagged NK₁ transfected into CHO-K1 cells was internalized in the presence of 10 nM synthetic virokinin, or conditioned medium. These results demonstrate that virokinin binds with high affinity to NK₁. and, like substance P, activates NK₁ at low nanomolar concentrations. They also showed that at high concentrations (0.5 uM), synthetic virokinin induced strong, reversible smooth muscle contractions in isolated circular muscle from guinea pig stomach. These contractions were significantly reduced in the presence of an NK3 inhibitor. Although binding to NK3 may be of lower affinity, this result further supports the bioactivity of virokinin.

The authors suggest that virokinin mimics mammalian tachykinins, contributing to both the symptoms of BRSV infection and benefiting the virus by altering the host immune response. Substance P and NKA induce an influx of lymphocytes, edema formation, increased mucus secretion, histamine release and bronchoconstriction in the lungs during inflammation (76, 77). These symptoms would be magnified by the presence of virokinin. At the site of infection, the accumulation of high concentrations of virokinin could desensitize NK₁, down-regulating the immune response. This down-regulation could delay viral clearance.

4.2. Sialokinins I/II

Ribeiro (78) reported a vasodilatory activity in homogenates from the salivary glands of *Aedes aegypti*, the yellow fever mosquito. Reverse-phase HPLC suggested the activity resided in a peptide with approximately the same mass as substance P. A monoclonal antibody directed against the C-terminus of substance P appeared to cross react with the mosquito peptide in fixed salivary glands. Champagne and Ribeiro (79) purified this activity and found two peptides, sialokinin I, with the sequence NTGDKFYGLM-NH₂, and sialokinin II, with identical sequence except for the substitution of an Asp residue at position 1.

Sialokinins are thought to trigger a response by binding to NK_1 . Sialokinins I & II were synthesized and their activity in a guinea pig ileum bioassay compared to the activity of substance P. Half-maximal contractile responses to the three peptides were virtually identical, with $K_{0.5}$ values of 6.58, 5.07 and 4.94 nM for sialokinin I, II and substance P, respectively. Although these concentrations are slightly greater than the K_d for substance P, guinea pig ileum may contain low affinity binding sites that would typically reduce the free ligand concentration, thereby modestly increasing the apparent half-maximal response values. Guinea pig ileum contains NK_1 receptors (80), thus the simplest conclusion is that the sialokinins bind to NK_1 with the same affinity as substance P, and, like substance P, induce a vasodilatory response.

There is little doubt that the most immediate and important action of the sialokinins is vasodilation. The mosquito benefits by increasing blood flow to the site of feeding. Immune responses to the sialokinins, however, could also be relevant to mosquito vector transmission. Champagne and Ribeiro (79) point out that the concentration of sialokinin required for smooth muscle contraction in the guinea pig ileum assay is the same as that needed for augmentation of macrophage responses by substance P. They suggest that promotion of macrophage activity at the site of mosquito feeding could result in macrophage infection, followed by macrophage dispersal of disease-causing parasitic vectors. Zeidner et al. (81) offer another potential role for sialokinins in viral transmission to the mammalian host. Mosquitoes were fed on flavivirus susceptible mice, or mice were injected directly with sialokinin. Four to seven days post-feeding or post-injection, stimulated lymphocytes were harvested and assayed for cytokine production. The Th1 cytokine IFN-gamma was downregulated relative to control lymphocytes from congenic flavivirus resistant mice, whereas the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-10 were up-regulated. The authors imply that sialokinin could locally promote a sub-optimal Th2 response to viral infection, increasing the likelihood of viral transmission.

4.3. Physalaemin

Numerous tachykinins, including physalaemin (82), have been isolated from frog skin (1). The venom glands on the backs of frogs and toads are the source of a variety of toxins, such as bufotoxin, whose uses include the

production of poison arrowheads. Although skin toxins confer an obvious advantage to an amphibian by reducing predation, exactly how physalaemin acts on mammals does not appear to be known (1).

Physalaemin contains the signature C-terminal tachykinin sequence FYGLM-NH2 and is considered to be an NK₁ agonist. Regoli et al. (83) reported that the substance P receptor (NK₁) was particularly sensitive to substance P and physalaemin. More specifically, Vigna et al. (84) and Kitsukawa et al. (85) used canine chief cells to demonstrate that physalaemin was equal in potency to substance P in displacing radiolabeled substance P from its receptor. The IC₅₀S of 0.1-0.2 nM suggest the physalaemin has this same high affinity for NK₁ as substance P. Along with virokinin and the sialokinins, physalaemin is a further example of a naturally occurring tachykinin with high affinity for NK₁. These peptides support the view that NK₁ binding requires phe or tyr at position X of the signature FXGLM-NH2 tachykinin Cterminal sequence, and indicates considerable sequence variability is permissible in the hydrophilic N-terminus.

5. PERSPECTIVE

There is compelling evidence that mammalian tachykinins are expressed in non-neuronal cells in vivo. Substance P is expressed in immune cells, neurokinin B in the placenta, and hemokinin 1 in B cells. The endokinins A and B, and C14TKL-1 are likely to be of non-neuronal origin since they are expressed in a wide variety of tissues, and in the case of the endokinins, are expressed in numerous peripheral tissue cell lines. It remains critical to prove the existence of the new tachykinins. For example, mouse HK-1 and human C14TKL-1 must either be purified from tissues and sequenced, or must be identified by development and use of monospecific antibodies. It will be of particular interest to define the relationship between the new mammalian tachykinins and their receptor(s). Synthetic forms of these peptides have high affinity for NK₁, the "substance P" receptor and at least two simple scenarios are possible for receptor-ligand interaction.

One possibility is obvious: the new mammalian tachykinins grouped with substance P may simply have high affinity for NK₁; that is, there is a single receptor capable of binding multiple ligands with high affinity. This is supported by the high affinity for NK₁ demonstrated by the three selected, naturally occurring nonmammalian tachykinins. This hypothesis is consistent with the C-terminal F (F/Y) GLM-NH2 tachykinin sequence dictating high affinity NK₁ binding. What is the purpose of the N-terminal sequence? The N-termini have in common their hydrophilic nature. Since the amidated C-terminus is highly hydrophobic and presumably insoluble in aqueous solution, one might speculate that the N-terminus is merely present to provide the requisite peptide solubility. If this is the case then the new mammalian tachykinins would promote the same postreceptor functions as substance P.

Alternatively, ligand-receptor affinities may be locally matched, with each mammalian tachykinin binding

to a preferred receptor state, or isoform. NK_1 affinity could be altered by coupling to different G proteins (86-88), or by the existence of different states of the receptor (i.e., phosphorylation states) (89). There is also the prospect for the discovery of new NK_1 isoforms as genomic sequences are analyzed. By matching tachykinin with receptor, there would be increased specificity for post-receptor functions and a greater prospect for the discovery of new roles for the mammalian tachykinins.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant #AI32976.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Severini, C., G. Improta, G. Falconieri-Erspamer, S. Salvadori and V. Erspamer: The tachykinin peptide family. *Pharmacol Rev* 54, 285-322 (2002)
- 2. Marriott, I. and K. L. Bost: Substance P. In: The Cytokine Reference. Eds: Oppenheim, JJ, Feldmann, M, Durum, SK, Hirano T, Vilcek J and Nicola NA. Academic Press, NY 1-18, On-Line Database. DOI, 10.1006/rwcy.2001.1305 (2001)
- 3. Harrison, S. and P. Geppetti: Substance P. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 33, 555-576 (2001)
- 4. DeVane, C.L: Substance P: A new era, a new role. *Pharmacotherapy* 31, 1061-1069 (2001)
- 5. Hokfelt, T., B. Pernow and J. Wahren: Substance P: A pioneer amongst neuropeptides. *J Internal Med* 249, 27-40 (2001)
- 6. Maggi, C. A: The effects of tachykinins on inflammatory and immune cells. *Regul Peptides* 70, 75-90 (1997)
- 7. Pascual, D. W., A. J. Stanisz, J. Bienenstock and K. L. Bost: Neural intervention in mucosal immunity. In: Handbook of Mucosal Immunology, 2nd edition. Eds: Ogra PL, Lamm ME, McGhee JR, Mestecky J, Strober W, and Bienenstock J, Academic Press, NY, Chapter 37, 631-642 (1999)
- 8. Lecci, A., S. Giuliani, M. Tramontana, F. Carini and C. A. Maggi: Peripheral actions of tachykinins. *Neuropeptides* 34, 303-313 (2000)
- 9. Page, N. M., R. J. Woods, S. M. Gardiner, K. Lomthaisong, R. T. Gladwell, D. J. Butlin, I. T. Manyonda and P. J. Lowry: Excessive placental secretion of neurokinin B during the third trimester causes preeclampsia. *Nature* 405, 797-800 (2000)
- 10. Matsas, R., A. J. Kenny and A. J. Turner: The metabolism of neuropeptides. The hydrolysis of peptides, including enkephalins, tachykinins and their analogues, by endopeptidase-24. 11. *Biochem J* 223, 433-40 (1984)

- 11. Gerard, N.P., L. Bao, H. Xiao-Ping and C. Gerard: Molecular aspects of the tachykinin receptors. *Regul Pept* 43, 21-35 (1993)
- 12. Keen, P., A.J. Harmar, F. Spears and E. Winter: Biosynthesis, axonal transport and turnover of neuronal substance P. *Ciba Found Symp* 91, 145-64 (1982)
- 13. Shafer, A. M., V. J. Bennett, P. Kim and J. C. Voss: Probing the binding pocket and endocytosis of a G protein-coupled receptor in live cells reported by a spin-labeled substance P agonist. *J Biol Chem* 278, 34203-34210 (2003)
- 14. Nakanishi, S: Mammalian tachykinin receptors. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 14, 123-36 (1991)
- 15. Ohkubo, H. and S. Nakanishi: Molecular characterization of the three tachykinin receptors. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 632, 53-62 (1991)
- 16. Nawa, H., T. Hirose, H. Takashima, S. Inayama and S. Nakanishi: Nucleotide sequences of cloned cDNAs for two types of bovine brain substance P precursor. *Nature* 306, 32-36 (1983)
- 17. Hokfelt, T., B. Pernow and J. Wahren: Substance P: a pioneer amongst neuropeptides. *J Intern Med* 249, 27-40 (2001)
- 18. Payan, D. G: Neuropeptides and inflammation: the role of substance P. *Annu Rev Med 40*, 341-352 (1989)
- 19. Aliakbari, J., S. P. Sreedharan, C. W. Turck and E. J. Goetzl: Selective localization of vasoactive intestinal peptide and substance P in human eosinophils. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 148, 1440-1445 (1987)
- 20. Weinstock, J. V., A. Blum, J. Walder and R. Walder: Eosinophils from granulomas in murine schistosomiasis mansoni produce substance P. *J Immunol* 141, 961-966 (1988)
- 21. Weinstock, J. V. and A. M. Blum: Release of substance P by granuloma eosinophils in response to secretagogues in murine schistosomiasis mansoni. *Cell Immunol* 125, 380-385 (1990)
- 22. Pascual, D. W. and K. L. Bost: Substance P production by P388D1 macrophages: a possible autocrine function for this neuropeptide. *Immunology* 71, 52-56 (1990)
- 23. Bost, K. L., S.A. Breeding and D.W. Pascual: Modulation of the mRNAs encoding substance P and its receptor in rat macrophages by LPS. *Reg Immunol* 4, 105-112 (1992)
- 24. Bost, K.L: Inducible preprotachykinin mRNA expression in mucosal lymphoid organs following oral

- immunization with Salmonella. *J Neuroimmunol* 62, 59-67 (1995)
- 25. Castagliuolo, I., A. C. Keates, B. Qiu, C. P. Kelly, S. Nikulasson, S. E. Leeman and C. Pothoulakis: Increased substance P responses in dorsal root ganglia and intestinal macrophages during Clostridium difficile toxin A enteritis in rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 4788-4793 (1997)
- 26. Ho, W. Z., J. P. Lai, X. H. Zhu, M. Uvaydova and S. D. Douglas: Human monocytes and macrophages express substance P and neurokinin-1 receptor. *J Immunol* 159, 5654-5660 (1997)
- 27. Killingsworth, C. R., S. A. Shore, F. Alessandrini, R. D. Dey and J. D. Paulauskis: Rat alveolar macrophages express preprotachykinin gene-I mRNA-encoding tachykinins. *Am J Physiol* 273, L1073-1081 (1997)
- 28. Ho, W.Z., J.P. Lai, Y. Li and S.D. Douglas: HIV enhances substance P expression in human immune cells. *FASEB J* 16, 616-618 (2002)
- 29. Lai, J. P., S. D. Douglas, F. Shaheen, D. E. Pleasure and W. Z. Ho: Quantification of substance p mRNA in human immune cells by real-time reverse transcriptase PCR assay. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 9, 138-143 (2002)
- 30. Lambrecht, B. N., P. R. Germonpre, E. G. Everaert, I. Carro-Muino, M. De Veerman, C. de Felipe, S. P. Hunt, K. Thielemans, G. F. Joos and R.A. Pauwels: Endogenously produced substance P contributes to lymphocyte proliferation induced by dendritic cells and direct TCR ligation. *Eur J Immunol* 29, 3815-3825 (1999)
- 31. Lai, J. P., S. D. Douglas and W. Z. Ho: Human lymphocytes express substance P and its receptor. *J Neuroimmunol* 86, 80-86 (1998)
- 32. Qian, B. F., G. Q. Zhou, M. L. Hammarstrom and A. Danielsson: Both substance P and its receptor are expressed in mouse intestinal T lymphocytes. *Neuroendocrinology* 73, 358-368 (2001)
- 33. Lai, J. P., G. X. Zhan, D. E. Campbell, S. D. Douglas and W.Z. Ho: Detection of substance P and its receptor in human fetal microglia. *Neuroscience* 101, 1137-1144 (2000)
- 34. Li, Y., S. Tian, S. D. Douglas and W. Z. Ho: Morphine up-regulates expression of substance P and its receptor in human blood mononuclear phagocytes and lymphocytes. *Cell Immunol* 205, 120-127 (2000)
- 35. Payan, D. G: Neuropeptides and inflammation: the role of substance P. *Annu Rev Med* 40, 341-352 (1989)
- 36. Berczi, I., I. M. Chalmers, E. Nagy and R. J. Warrington: The immune effects of neuropeptides. *Baillieres Clin Rheumatol* 10, 227-257 (1996)
- 37. Lambrecht, B.N: Immunologists getting nervous: neuropeptides, dendritic cells and T cell activation. *Respir Res* 2, 133-138 (2001)

- 38. Marriott, I., K.L. Bost: Substance P receptor mediated macrophage responses. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 493, 247-54 (2001)
- 39. Chancellor-Freeland, C., G.F. Zhu, R. Kage, D.I. Beller, S.E. Leeman and P.H. Black: Substance P and stress-induced changes in macrophages. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 771, 472-484 (1995)
- 40. Marriott, I. and K. L. Bost: IL-4 and IFN-gamma upregulate substance P receptor expression in murine peritoneal macrophages. *J Immunol* 165, 182-191 (2000)
- 41. Marriott, I. and K.L. Bost: Expression of authentic substance P receptors in murine and human dendritic cells. *J Neuroimmunol* 114, 131-141 (2001)
- 42. Rasley, A., K.L. Bost, J.K. Olson, S.D. Miller and I. Marriott: Expression of functional NK-1 receptors in murine microglia. *Glia* 37, 258-267 (2002)
- 43. Hartung, H.P. and K.V. Toyka: Activation of macrophages by substance P: induction of oxidative burst and thromboxane release. *Eur J Pharmacol* 89, 301-305 (1983)
- 44. Hartung, H.P., K. Wolters and K.V. Toyka: Substance P: binding properties and studies on cellular responses in guinea pig macrophages. *J Immunol* 136, 3856-3863 (1986)
- 45. Lotz, M., J. H. Vaughan and D. A. Carson: Effect of neuropeptides on production of inflammatory cytokines by human monocytes. *Science* 241, 1218-1221 (1988)
- 46. Berman, A.S., C. Chancellor-Freeland, G. Zhu and P.H. Black: Substance P primes murine peritoneal macrophages for an augmented proinflammatory cytokine response to lipopolysaccharide. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 3, 141-149 (1996)
- 47. Kincy-Cain, T. and K.L. Bost: Substance P-induced IL-12 production by murine macrophages. *J Immunol* 158, 2334-2339 (1997)
- 48. Marriott, I. and K.L. Bost: Substance P diminishes lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma-induced TGF-beta 1 production by cultured murine macrophages. *Cell Immunol* 183, 113-120 (1998)
- 49. Blum, A.M., D.E. Elliott, A. Metwali, J. Li, K. Qadir and J.V. Weinstock: Substance P regulates somatostatin expression in inflammation. *J Immunol* 161, 6316-6322 (1998)
- 50. Payan, D. G., D. R. Brewster and E. J. Goetzl: Specific stimulation of human T lymphocytes by substance P. *J Immunol* 131, 1613-1615 (1983)
- 51. Stanisz, A. M., D. Befus and J. Bienenstock: Differential effects of vasoactive intestinal peptide,

- substance P, and somatostatin on immunoglobulin synthesis and proliferations by lymphocytes from Peyer's patches, mesenteric lymph nodes, and spleen. *J Immunol* 136, 152-156 (1986)
- 52. Pascual, D. W., J. C. Xu-Amano, H. Kiyono, J. R. McGhee and K. L. Bost: Substance P acts directly upon cloned B lymphoma cells to enhance IgA and IgM production. *J Immunol* 146, 2130-2136 (1991)
- 53. Pascual, D. W., K. L. Bost, J. Xu-Amano, H. Kiyono and J. R. McGhee: The cytokine-like action of substance P upon B cell differentiation. *Reg Immunol* 4, 100-104 (1992)
- 54. Bost, K.L. and D.W. Pascual: Substance P: a late-acting B lymphocyte differentiation cofactor. *Am J Physiol* 262, C537-C545 (1992)
- 55. Pascual, D. W., J. R. McGhee, H. Kiyono and K. L. Bost: Neuroimmune modulation of lymphocyte function--I. Substance P enhances immunoglobulin synthesis in lipopolysaccharide activated murine splenic B cell cultures. *Int Immunol* 3, 1223-1229 (1991)
- 56. Pascual, D.W., K.W. Beagley, H. Kiyono and J.R. McGhee: Substance P promotes Peyer's patch and splenic B cell differentiation. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 371A, 55-59 (1995)
- 57. Levite, M., L. Cahalon, R. Hershkoviz, L. Steinman and O. Lider: Neuropeptides, via specific receptors, regulate T cell adhesion to fibronectin. *J Immunol* 160, 993-1000 (1998)
- 58. Levite, M: Neuropeptides, by direct interaction with T cells, induce cytokine secretion and break the commitment to a distinct T helper phenotype. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 12544-12549 (1998)
- 59. Tatemoto, K., J. M. Lundberg, H. Jornvall and V. Mutt: Neuropeptide K: isolation, structure and biological activities of a novel brain tachykinin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 128, 947-953 (1985)
- 60. Kage, R., G.P. McGregor, L. Thim and J.M. Conlon: Neuropeptide-gamma: a peptide isolated from rabbit intestine that is derived from gamma-preprotachykinin. *J Neurochem* 50, 1412-1417 (1988)
- 61. Page, N.M., R.J. Woods and P.J. Lowry: A regulatory role for neurokinin B in placental physiology and preeclampsia. *Regul Pept* 98, 97-104 (2001)
- 62. Page, N.M. and P.J. Lowry: The role of neurokinin B in pre-eclampsia. *Hosp Med* 62, 343-346 (2001)
- 63. Brownbill, P., N.J. Bell, R.J. Woods, P.J. Lowry, N. M. Page and C.P. Sibley: Neurokinin B is a paracrine vasodilator in the human fetal placental circulation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 2164-2170 (2003)

- 64. Zhang, Y., L. Lu, C. Furlonger, G.E. Wu and C.J. Paige: Hemokinin is a hematopoietic-specific tachykinin that regulates B lymphopoiesis. *Nat Immunol* 1, 392-397 (2000)
- 65. Kurtz, M.M., R. Wang, M.K. Clements, M.A. Cascieri, C.P. Austin, B.R. Cunningham, G.G. Chicchi and Q. Liu: Identification, localization and receptor characterization of novel mammalian substance P-like peptides. *Gene* 296, 205-212 (2002)
- 66. Duffy, R.A., J.A. Hedrick, G. Randolph, C.A. Morgan, M.E. Cohen-Williams, G. Vassileva, J.E. Lachowicz, M. Laverty, M. Maguire, L.S. Shan, E. Gustafson and G.B. Varty: Centrally administered hemokinin-1 (HK-1), a neurokinin NK1 receptor agonist, produces substance P-like behavioral effects in mice and gerbils. *Neuropharmacology* 242-250 (2003)
- 67. Pintado, C.O., F.M. Pinto, J.N. Pennefather, A. Hidalgo, A. Baamonde, T. Sanchez and M.L. Candenas: A role for tachykinins in female mouse and rat reproductive function. *Biol Reprod* 69, 940-946 (2003)
- 68. Morteau, O., B. Lu, C. Gerard and N.P. Gerard: Hemokinin 1 is a full agonist at the substance P receptor. *Nat Immunol* 2, 1088 (2001)
- 69. Bellucci, F., F. Carini, C. Catalani, P. Cucchi, A. Lecci, S. Meini, R. Patacchini, L. Quartara, R. Ricci, M. Tramontana, S. Giuliani and C.A. Maggi: Pharmacological profile of the novel mammalian tachykinin, hemokinin 1. *Br J Pharmacol* 135, 266-274 (2002)
- 70. Camarda, V., A. Rizzi, G. Calo, R. Guerrini, S. Salvadori and D. Regoli: Pharmacological profile of hemokinin 1: a novel member of the tachykinin family. *Life Sci* 71, 363-370 (2002)
- 71. Zhang, Y. and C.J. Paige: T-cell developmental blockage by tachykinin antagonists and the role of hemokinin 1 in T lymphopoiesis. *Blood* 102, 2165-2172 (2003)
- 72. Page, N.M., N.J. Bell, S.M. Gardiner, I.T. Manyonda, K.J. Brayley, P.G. Strange and P.J. Lowry PJ: Characterization of the endokinins: human tachykinins with cardiovascular activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 6245-6250 (2003)
- 73. Patak, E., M.L. Candenas, J.N. Pennefather, S. Ziccone, A. Lilley, J.D. Martin, C. Flores, A.G. Mantecon, M.E. Story and F.M. Pinto: Tachykinins and tachykinin receptors in human uterus. *Br J Pharmacol* 139, 523-532 (2003)
- 74. Jiang, Y., G. Gao, G. Fang, E.L. Gustafson, M. Laverty, Y. Yin, Y. Zhang, J. Luo, J.R. Greene, M.L. Bayne, J.A. Hedrick and N.J. Murgolo: PepPat, a pattern-based oligopeptide homology search method and the identification of a novel tachykinin-like peptide. *Mamm Genome* 14, 341-9 (2003)

- 75. Zimmer, G., M. Rohn, G.P. McGregor, M. Schemann, K.K. Conzelmann and G. Herrler: Virokinin, a bioactive peptide of the tachykinin family, Is released from the fusion protein of bovine respiratory syncytial virus. *J Biol Chem* 278, 46854-46861 (2003)
- 76. Joos, G.F., K.O. De Swert and R.A. Pauwels: Airway inflammation and tachykinins: prospects for the development of tachykinin receptor antagonists. *Eur J Pharmacol* 429, 239-250 (2001)
- 77. Joos, G.F., K.O. De Swert, V. Schelfhout, R.A. Pauwels: Role of neural inflammation in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 992, 218-230 (2003)
- 78. Ribeiro J.M: Characterization of a vasodilator from the salivary glands of the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti. *J Exp Biol* 165, 61-71 (1992)
- 79. Champagne, D.E. and J.M. Ribeiro: Sialokinin I and II: vasodilatory tachykinins from the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 138-142 (1994)
- 80. Maggi, C.A., R.M. Catalioto, M. Criscuoli, P. Cucchi, S. Giuliani, A. Lecci, A. Lippi, S. Meini, R. Patacchini, A.R. Renzetti, P. Santicioli, M. Tramontana, V. Zagorodnyuk and A. Giachetti: Tachykinin receptors and intestinal motility. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 75, 696-703 (1997)
- 81. Zeidner, N.S., S. Higgs, C.M. Happ, B. J. Beaty and B.R. Miller: Mosquito feeding modulates Th1 and Th2 cytokines in flavivirus susceptible mice: an effect mimicked by injection of sialokinins, but not demonstrated in flavivirus resistant mice. *Parasite Immunol* 21, 35-44 (1999)
- 82. Anastasi, A., V. Erspamer and J.M. Cei: Isolation and amino acid sequence of physalaemin, the main active polypeptide of the skin of physalaemus fuscumaculatus. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 108, 341-348 (1964)
- 83. Regoli, D., G. Drapeau, S. Dion and P. D'Orleans-Juste: Receptors for substance P and related neurokinins. *Pharmacology* 38, 1-15 (1989)
- 84. Vigna, S.R., C.R. Mantyh, A.H. Soll, J.E. Maggio and P.W. Mantyh: Substance P receptors on canine chief cells: localization, characterization, and function. *J Neurosci* 9, 2878-2886 (1989)
- 85. Kitsukawa, Y., R.J. Turner, T.K. Pradhan and Jensen: Gastric chief cells possess NK1 receptors which mediate pepsinogen secretion and are regulated by agents that increase cAMP and phospholipase C. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1312, 105-116 (1996)
- 86. Gerard, N.P., L. Bao, H. Xiao-Ping and C. Gerard: Molecular aspects of the tachykinin receptors. *Regul Pept* 43, 21-35 (1993)
- 87. Quartara, L. and C.A. Maggi: The tachykinin NK_1 receptor. Part I: ligands and mechanisms of cellular activation. *Neuropeptides* 31, 537-63 (1997)

- 88. Maggi, C.A. and T.W. Schwartz: The dual nature of the tachykinin NK_1 receptor. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 18, 351-355 (1997)
- 89. Kim, H.R., S. Lavielle & S. Sagan: The two NK-1 binding sites are distinguished by one radiolabelled substance P analogue. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 306, 725-729 (2003)

Key Words: Tachykinin, Neurokinin, Substance P, Hemokinin, Endokinin, Virokinin, Sialokinin, Physalaemin, Neurokinin receptor, Review

Send correspondence to: Daniel A. Nelson, Ph.D., Department of Biology, 9201 University City Boulevard, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, NC 28223, Tel: 704-687-3696, Fax: 704-687-3128, E-mail: danelson@email.uncc.edu